

Mobility • Safety • Economy • Environment



How will drivers interact with vehicles of the future?

Professor Gary Burnett Dr David R. Large Dr Davide Salanitri July 2019

The Royal Automobile Club Foundation for Motoring Ltd is a transport policy and research organisation which explores the economic, mobility, safety and environmental issues relating to roads and their users. The Foundation publishes independent and authoritative research with which it promotes informed debate and advocates policy in the interest of the responsible motorist.

RAC Foundation 89–91 Pall Mall London SW1Y 5HS

Tel no: 020 7747 3445 www.racfoundation.org

Registered Charity No. 1002705 July 2019 © Copyright Royal Automobile Club Foundation for Motoring Ltd



How will drivers interact with vehicles of the future?

Professor Gary Burnett Dr David R. Large Dr Davide Salanitri July 2019

About the Author

Professor Gary Burnett holds a chair in Transport Human Factors within the Faculty of Engineering at the University of Nottingham. He has over 25 years' experience in Human Factors research and development relating to advanced technology within road-based vehicles. His work addresses key safety, usability, and acceptance issues for advanced incar systems and Human-Machine Interfaces (HMIs), and he is particularly concerned with the role of the human within future highly automated vehicles.

Dr David R. Large is a Senior Research Fellow with the Human Factors Research Group at the University of Nottingham. Since returning to academia and gaining his PhD in 2013, David has been actively involved with a broad range of industry, UK and EU funded projects primarily concerning the design, evaluation and acceptance of new and emerging invehicle interfaces and systems for both road and rail transport, and the development and application of novel methodologies to enable this work.

Dr Davide Salanitri is a Human Factors Research Fellow. He achieved his PhD with the Human Factors Research Group at the University of Nottingham in 2018. During his PhD, and since graduating, Davide has worked on various projects, both national and European, focusing on the evaluation of users' behaviour and perception while interacting with various immerse technologies, such as driving simulators, virtual reality systems, mobile applications, websites and other software applications. The main focus of Davide's work is on understanding and enhancing users' trust and acceptance, and their perceived usability and sense of presence.

Acknowledgements

The research was conducted as a collaboration between the RAC Foundation and the University of Nottingham. The authors would like to extend their thanks to Dr Anneka Lawson and Elizabeth Box of the RAC Foundation for their valuable guidance and support, and to Hannah White and Emily Shaw, postgraduate students in Human Factors and Ergonomics at the University of Nottingham, for their assistance in conducting analysis.

Disclaimer

This report has been prepared for the RAC Foundation by Professor Gary Burnett, Dr David R. Large, Dr Davide Salanitri, Human Factors Research Group, University of Nottingham. Any errors or omissions are the authors' sole responsibility. The report content reflects the views of the authors and not necessarily those of the RAC Foundation.

i

Contents

	Foreword	. iv
	Summary	v
1	Background	. 1
2	Methodology and Approach	. 5
	2.1 Human-machine interface	. 8
	2.2 Handover and takeover requests	11
	2.3 Participants	12
	2.4 Procedure	12
3	Results and Analysis	14
	3.1 Measures and analysis approach	14
	3.2 Secondary activities	15
	3.3 Trust, technology acceptance and situational awareness	26
	3.4 Manual driving behaviour and performance	30
	3.5 Behavioural adaptations	36
	3.6 Emergency handover and handover strategy	45
4	Discussion and Conclusions	48
	4.1 Secondary activities	48
	4.2 Trust, technology acceptance and situational awareness	49
	4.3 Transfer of control	50
	4.4 Vehicle control	51
	4.5 Mirror checks	52
	4.6 Limitations	53
	4.7 References	55
	Appendix A: Questionnaires	57
	Trust in general technology questionnaire	57
	Trust in a specific technology questionnaire	59

Technology acceptance questionnaire	. 60
Situational Awareness Rating Technique (SART)	. 63

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Driving skills hierarchy (after Michon [8])	3
Figure 2.1: University of Nottingham driving simulator, showing external (top) and internal (bottom) views	6
Figure 2.2: Representation of journey showing residential, dual carriageway and city elements	7
Figure 3.1: Secondary devices used and activities undertaken during periods of automation	16
Figure 3.2: Example of participant using a smartphone	18
Figure 3.3: Example of participant using their smartphone as a music player, while still directing visual attention at the road scene	18
Figure 3.4: Example of participant using a smartphone	19
Figure 3.5: Example of participant reading a book	19
Figure 3.6: Example of participant using the steering wheel to support their book while reading	20
Figure 3.7: Example of paperwork obscuring vehicle dashboard/HMI	20
Figure 3.8: Example of participant engaged in multiple activities	21
Figure 3.9: Example of participant completely obscuring their view of the road scene while reading	21
Figure 3.10: Example of participant supporting their laptop against the steering wheel during use	22
Figure 3.11: Example of participant holding their laptop to the side, but obstructing their view of the HMI while doing so	22
Figure 3.12: Example of participant reading from a tablet computer (note: participant is wearing reading glasses)	23
Figure 3.13: Example of participant adjusting seat and posture in preparation for handover	23
Figure 3.14: Example of participant sleeping	24
Figure 3.15: Example of participant sleeping	24

Figure 3.16: Mean percentage of time spent engaged in secondary activities and looking at roadway during automation	5
Figure 3.17: Trust in a specific technology ratings with standard error bars, where 1 = "Strongly disagree" (indicating minimum trust) and 7 = "Strongly agree" (indicating maximum trust), with standard error bars	6
Figure 3.18: Technology acceptance ratings with standard deviations, where 1 = "Strongly disagree" (indicating minimum acceptance) and 7 = "Strongly agree" (indicating maximum acceptance), with standard error bars	7
Figure 3.19: Demands on attentional resources SART ratings, with standard error bars 24	8
Figure 3.20: Supply of attentional resources SART ratings, with standard error bars	9
Figure 3.21: Understanding of the situation SART ratings, with standard error bars	0
Figure 3.22: Mean lateral movement (expressed as the absolute position of centre of vehicle at each time interval from lane centre) in one-second intervals after resuming manual control	1
Figure 3.23: Mean standard deviation of lane position (variability during each time period) in one-second intervals after resuming manual control	2
Figure 3.24: Mean standard deviation of lane position (lane variability) during the full ten seconds after resuming manual control, with standard error bars	2
Figure 3.25: Mean speed (mph) in one-second intervals after resuming manual control 3-	4
Figure 3.26: Speed variability (mph) in one-second intervals after resuming manual control	4
Figure 3.27: First control input (accelerator or brake) after resuming manual control (percentage of participants)	5
Figure 3.28: Mean time before first input (accelerator or brake) made, with standard deviation error bars	6
Figure 3.29: Example of participant visually confirming location of feet on pedals	7
Figure 3.30: Example of participant visually confirming location of feet on pedals	7
Figure 3.31: Example of participant continuing to engage with their smartphone during prepare-to-drive notification (visible on in-vehicle screen)	8
Figure 3.32: Example of participant packing away their secondary item (book) after being instructed to prepare to drive	9
Figure 3.33: Driver behaviour during transition period – following delivery of "prepare to drive" warning	9
Figure 3.34: Example of startle response	1

Figure 3.35: Example of startle response	41
Figure 3.36: Time from automation available to automation request/handover (each dot represents an individual value; black line indicates mean value trend line)	42
Figure 3.37: Example of participant displaying tentative handover of control	43
Figure 3.38: Percentage of drivers requesting manual control during prepare-to-drive notification	44
Figure 3.39: Mean prepare-to-drive time before manual control requested, with standard error bars	44
Figure 3.40: Mean number of mirror checks during top-down and bottom-up advice, with standard error bars	46

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) levels of automation	2
Table 2.1: Text-based and pictorial messages for 'top-down' and 'bottom-up'	
handover advice (changes were accompanied by an appropriate alerting tone	
and/or voice message)	Э
Table 2.2: Automated system feedback human-machine interface (participants were	
not explicitly told what each representation meant) 10)
Table 2.3: Experimental design	1
Table 2.4: Participant demographics12	2

V

Foreword

So much of the debate about automated driving hinges on the question of how we *think* we'll engage with a technology that, as of today, is wholly unfamiliar to the vast majority of us. How we'll actually react in practice is in fact rather uncertain. Despite the imminent arrival of automatic driving that some are predicting, we appear to be some way from being able to test real-world consumer acceptance on the public road.

We were therefore enthusiastic about partnering with the team at the University of Nottingham to see what we could learn from the next-best thing to real-world testing: using a driving simulator, as explained in detail in this report.

What the research brings out is the very real challenge the developers of automated driving face if, as seems most likely, the technology they bring to market allows only for so-called 'conditional' automation, i.e. the vehicle can be set to drive itself in a defined range of circumstances which might not cover all the features involved in making a trip.

For example, the vehicle might be able to control itself on motorways but not on narrow country lanes. Or the technology might operate in most weather conditions but not in snow or through sudden torrential rainfall. And that means the human driver having to re-take control.

As experienced drivers we tend to let slip to the back of our minds how important situational awareness is to driving safely, because it becomes second nature to observe and react accordingly to what is going on around us, in terms of road condition, weather and other traffic. We don't just see how our vehicle is performing by looking at the dashboard, we feel it through our hands being on the steering wheel and our feet being on the pedals.

This research tested what drivers chose to do once released from the driving task and so relieved of the need to maintain situational awareness. And it explored how quickly the required degree of situational awareness could be regained when the need came to retake control. The findings, unsurprisingly, show that retaking control is not something that can be safely handled instantaneously.

If conditionally automated vehicles are to be allowed onto the public road then their designers are going to have to apply their minds to the circumstances where drivers will be invited – or required – to retake control and the very real likelihood that, at best, those drivers will need plenty of warning to set down their papers or close their laptop computer, and, at worst, still more time to wake from slumber.

Simply advising drivers of the need for them to stay awake and alert is unlikely to be a viable, safe option. And that begs the question – *What is*?

Steve Gooding Director, RAC Foundation

Summary

Automated vehicles are expected to provide the freedom for their drivers to undertake other activities while the vehicle is in control. However, very little empirical data exists regarding the type of activities that drivers may wish, or indeed expect, to undertake in practice, and the potential impact that this choice of activity could have on the manual resumption of the driving task.

In a novel, longitudinal driving simulator study, 49 experienced drivers undertook a 30-minute commute-style journey at the same time on each of five consecutive days, having brought with them their own devices and artefacts to use. The journey involved periods of manual and automated driving, defined at SAE (Society of Automotive Engineers) level 3 (i.e. participants were told that they might be required to resume manual control, given appropriate notice, during periods of automation).

The aims of the study were:

- 1. to uncover the type of activities that drivers naturally chose to undertake in a vehicle offering SAE level 3 automation, based on empirical evidence;
- 2. to understand what impact these activities had on the manual resumption of the driving task under both routine and emergency conditions; and
- to explore possible techniques to help keep drivers 'in the loop' during periods of automation and thereby rebuild their situational awareness prior to the handover of control; and
- 4. to explore how participants' behaviour changed throughout the course of the week.

Results show that drivers were quick to develop high levels of trust in and acceptance of the automation, and undertook a range of activities while the vehicle was in control – typically with high visual, manual and cognitive demands. The smartphone was the most popular device, used by over 80% of participants. Reading material (books, printed papers etc.) were also popular, with up to 25% of participants engaging in some form of reading activity during the week; in addition, participants commonly used laptops and tablet computers.

While the types of devices used did not change significantly during the week, the proportion of time (as determined by the visual attention directed towards them) increased from approximately 70% on day one to over 80% on day five (i.e. by the end of the week, less than 20% of time was spent directed at the road scene).

Subjective ratings confirmed the high levels of trust and acceptance; moreover, these ratings increased as the week progressed, even after an unexpected, emergency handover on the fourth day, with the highest ratings of acceptance being recorded on day five.

Drivers also indicated high levels of situational awareness, although ratings were lower following the unexpected, day four perturbation – particularly with regard to the demands for and supply of their attentional resources (as revealed by the Situational Awareness Rating Technique).

Behavioural indicators suggest an increase in the level of complacency and confidence that drivers held regarding their own ability to take control as the week progressed. For example, drivers showed an increasing tendency as the week progressed to use the 60-second prepare-to-drive notification period (associated with scheduled handovers) to casually dispense with their secondary activities rather than actively preparing to drive.

In practice, initial driving performance after the transfer of control was poor, with high levels of lateral instability and speed variability being manifest during the ten seconds immediately following scheduled handovers. However, driving performance improved significantly with experience throughout the week. Driving performance was also arguably better following the emergency handover – which was suspected to be due to heightened driver arousal associated with the event notification.

Human-machine interface (HMI) design appeared to play an important role in facilitating the efficient resumption of control. For example, providing a feedback HMI – showing the current status of the automated control system – reduced the time to 'driver readiness' (defined as at least one hand being on the steering wheel and a first glance directed towards the road scene) during the emergency handover of control. Additionally, providing a tactical ('top-down') handover HMI – encouraging drivers to check for hazards prior to assuming control – increased mirror checks during the transition, compared to a control ('bottom-up') HMI advising drivers simply to 'take control' – and this difference was evident even during the emergency handover.

Results as a whole indicate a strong need for new driver skills when it comes to future vehicles offering automated functionality, to ensure that drivers efficiently monitor system status displays, and are able to resume control smoothly and safely. The study also provides valuable insights and data for policymakers regarding how people are likely to interact with their future SAE level 3 automated vehicles – and the potential impact that the interaction activities may have on their ability to resume control.

1. Background



Autonomous, that is fully automated, vehicles are expected to offer a number of benefits, including improvements in road safety, increased mobility, enhanced driver comfort and reductions in road congestion [1]. Relinquishing responsibility for vehicle control would also allow drivers to use journey time for non-driving-related tasks, potentially providing a more enjoyable and productive experience during everyday car travel [2].

However, fully automated vehicles are not likely to populate our roads for quite some time [3]. In the meantime, there is an expectation that vehicles offering lower levels of automated control, or those that pose the ability to operate autonomously in certain situations only (e.g. geofenced or 'traffic jam assist'type technologies), are more likely to be seen.

The Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) [4] categorises six levels of ascending automation (from levels 0 to 5), that differ in the extent to which the system intervenes in vehicle control, and whether and by how much the human driver needs to monitor the system (in anticipation of potentially taking over control) (Table 1.1). Intermediate, 'level 3' vehicles (also referred to as "conditional automation"), capable of providing functionality such as traffic jam assist and automated highway driving, are expected to be available in the

1

UK in the next few years [3]. However, at level 3, the human driver is still expected to be responsible for the vehicle's actions, and consequently must be available and prepared to resume manual control in situations that the vehicle cannot handle. It has therefore been suggested that SAE level 3 automated vehicles allow drivers to "become hands and feet free, but not necessarily 'mind free'" [5]. Moreover, the situations in which drivers must regain manual control of automated vehicles may occur unexpectedly and require fast responses, and thus human drivers might find themselves ill-prepared for the transfer of control [1, 5, 6].

Level	Name	Description				
0	No automation	Human driver completely controls the vehicle.				
1	Driver assistance	Individual activities which assist steering or acceleration/deceleration are partially automated.				
2	Partial automation	Several, simultaneous activities which assist steering or acceleration deceleration are partially automated.				
3	Conditional automation	In certain driving scenarios, all dynamic, non-strategic, driving activities (e.g. vehicle control but not route choice) are automated but human is expected to intervene when requested.				
		In certain driving scenarios, all dynamic driving activities are automated and vehicle can cope with human not intervening if and when requested.				
5	Full automation	Always and everywhere, all dynamic driving activities are automated with no need for human intervention.				

Table 1.1: Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) levels of automation

Source: adapted from SAE International (2014), modified

Even in a situation where the takeover request is scheduled and expected to occur, a major concern is that drivers are likely to have become 'out-of-the-loop' (OOTL), i.e. they have not been required to actively monitor, make decisions about or provide physical inputs to the driving task [7]. This reduces their perception and comprehension of elements and events in their environment, and their ability to project the future status of these things - their socalled situational awareness. The driving skills hierarchy [8] (Figure 1.1) identifies situational awareness as a key element at the tactical level of driving. The hierarchy describes the relationship between strategic (planning), tactical (manoeuvring) and control (operational) elements of the driving task in a top-down relationship. The highest, 'strategic' level involves defining the overall journey goals and general plans, including route and mode choice. At the tactical level, drivers negotiate the directly prevailing circumstances in controlled action patterns, involving obstacle avoidance, gap acceptance,¹ turning, overtaking and so on, for which situational awareness is important. The 'control' level (at the bottom of the hierarchy) defines the physical control actions (or automatic action patterns) associated with safe vehicle manoeuvring (steering, braking, mirror checks etc.). To date, proposed takeover requests (issued by the vehicle) typically exist as a 'bottom-up' approach (with respect to Michon's driving skills hierarchy [8]), demanding simply that the driver 'take control' (using

^{1 &#}x27;Gap acceptance' is defined as the minimum amount of time (or sometimes space) within which a driver is willing to contemplate undertaking a manoeuvre which involves exploiting a gap between two moving vehicles.

lower-level skills), without attempting to assess or rebuild their situational awareness (using higher-level skills) prior to handing over control.





A further concern is that, given the absence of responsibility for primary control actions during automated driving, human drivers will also be likely to engage in non-driving-related activities, which could in and of themselves contribute to the loss of awareness of the vehicle system state and external driving environment (as drivers become cognitively captivated by their chosen activities). Previous, preliminary work has shown that, given complete freedom to select and engage in activities of their own choosing while the vehicle is in control (even when told that they might have to resume control), drivers selected highly engaging activities – often involving strong visual, manual and cognitive elements – and quickly become absorbed in them, at the expense of their awareness of the external driving situation [2]. In addition, drivers engaged in non-driving-related tasks during automated driving have been found to show greater signs of fatigue and mind-wandering, and to display slower reaction times to takeover requests, as measured by the time taken to look at the road, and place their hands on the steering wheel and their feet on the pedals (typical indicators of readiness to drive) [9].

The aim of the current project was to extend the preliminary investigation conducted by Large et al. [2] by recruiting a larger, representative cohort of drivers, and employ a comprehensive range of quantitative and qualitative measures to determine the types of behaviour prevalent when a level 3 vehicle is notionally 'in control', and the impact that these behaviours have on drivers' ability to resume manual control. It is important to note that, as with the preliminary investigation conducted by Large et al. [2], no restrictions were applied to the nature of activities in which participants could partake while the vehicle was in control – they were simply told to imagine what they might do in such a situation and bring any items they would require to accomplish this (smartphone, laptop, book etc.); they were

Source: Adapted from Michon [8]

then free to engage with them. In the context of the current, ongoing reviews of the legal framework for automated vehicles conducted by the UK Law Commission and UNECE (the UN Economic Commission for Europe), the study therefore provides valuable insights and data for policymakers regarding how people are likely to interact with their future level 3 automated vehicles, and the potential impact that these might have on their ability to resume manual control when required to do so.

Furthermore, recognising the fact that drivers' awareness of their surroundings is likely to diminish when they are engaged in secondary activities, and in the light of the driving skills hierarchy, a secondary aim of the study was to explore possible techniques and remediations to help keep drivers 'in the loop' during periods of automation, and to rebuild their situational awareness prior to the handover of control. For example, an HMI (human-machine interface) providing details of the current vehicle status (sensor operability etc.) provided drivers with an indication of the vehicle's ability to maintain control (potentially enabling them to predict an impending transfer of control), and a novel 'top-down' takeover request began by providing tactical-level information to focus the driver's attention (i.e. to increase their situational awareness) prior to the issuing of a request at the control level.

Finally, the conducting of a longitudinal study that required participants to attend on five consecutive days enabled exploration of behavioural adaptations that took place over the week. This approach is highly novel when compared with previous studies (e.g. [1]), which have typically exposed drivers to these future vehicles on one day only (with interactions lasting less than an hour).

The study aims can be summarised as follows:

- to document the types of activities naturally undertaken by drivers during SAE level 3 automation;
- to explore the impact of these activities on drivers' ability to resume manual control;
- to explore possible techniques to help keep drivers 'in the loop' during periods of automation and thereby rebuild their situational awareness prior to the handover of control; and
- to explore behavioural adaptations seen in drivers over an extended time period (a week).

2. Methodology and Approach



The study took place in a medium-fidelity, fixed-base driving simulator at the University of Nottingham (Figure 2.1). The simulator comprises a right-hand drive Audi TT car positioned within a curved screen, affording a 270-degrees forward and contiguous side image of the driving scene via three overhead high definition projectors, together with rear and side mirror displays. A Thrustmaster T500RS force feedback steering wheel and pedal set are integrated faithfully with the existing Audi primary controls, with the dashboard created using a bespoke application and presented on a 7-inch LCD screen, replacing the original Audi instrument cluster. Four video cameras are strategically located within the vehicle to record participants' behaviour.

The simulated driving environment was created using STISIM Drive software (version 3) (see https://stisimdrive.com), and was designed to replicate a typical commuting journey lasting approximately 30 minutes. Participants began in a residential location (described to them as their home), progressed through a rural setting, joined a UK two-lane dual carriageway (comprising the majority of their journey experience), and finally arrived in an urban/city environment (described as their place of work) (Figure 2.2). All the roads involved were populated with moderate to high levels of traffic (befitting a commute-style journey), authentic road signage, and geotypical roadside artefacts and terrain.

Figure 2.1: University of Nottingham driving simulator, showing external (top) and internal (bottom) views



Source: Authors' own



Figure 2.2: Representation of journey showing residential, dual carriageway and city elements

7

Source: Authors' own

The simulator was modified to mimic the capabilities of an SAE level 3 automated car, insofar as the driver was able to relinquish the physical primary control actions (steering, accelerating and braking). However, automation was available only on the dual carriageway, replicating a geofenced situation; moreover, there was no lead vehicle ahead of the participants' vehicle. The vehicle's capabilities were described in detail to participants at the start of the study based on the SAE definition of level 3 automated control [4]. Specifically, participants were informed within an information sheet:

"The vehicle is capable of controlling all aspects of the driving task. However, you may be required to resume manual control given appropriate notice."

Prior to attending, participants were asked to consider what they might like or expect to do on such a journey in an 'automated' vehicle, and bring with them any objects or devices (i.e. their own belongings) to enable these activities. No restrictions were placed on what participants were allowed to do, to avoid pre-empting or influencing their expectations and behaviour.

Participants attended at the same time of day on five consecutive weekdays, with the entire experience framed as a week of daily commutes to work. Adopting a longitudinal approach in this way allowed the exploration of any behavioural adaptations during the week, and increased the ecological validity of the study (defined as the extent to which the findings are generalisable to real-life settings [10]).

2.1 Human-machine interface

An in-vehicle HMI was installed in the centre console of the vehicle. This provided system feedback throughout the drive, delivered via an interactive PowerPoint presentation controlled remotely by the researcher. Feedback included information such as whether automation was available or not, the current status of the automated control, and guidance during handover requests. Feedback was provided both visually (in the form of text-based messages and images) and audibly (by tones and spoken messages). Participants were alerted to any updates to the information presented using a tone. These differed depending on the nature of the change. For example, a more urgent tone was used to indicate an emergency takeover request. The selection and presentation of the correct feedback (visual and auditory) was controlled remotely by the researcher, without the participant being aware of this human involvement – this is known as a 'Wizard of Oz' approach [11].

As part of the experimental design, the specific nature of the information displayed varied between groups of participants, being presented either as 'top-down' or 'bottom-up' handover advice (see Table 2.1). The 'top-down' approach differed in that participants were provided with animated guidance to check for hazards (highlighting important areas, such as the mirrors, the road ahead etc.), in addition to a count-down timer, during the 10-seconds prior to taking control. In contrast, the 'bottom-up' take-over request simply instructed the driver to "take control". Each participant experienced only one of the handover strategies, and this remained consistent throughout the week.

In addition, a feedback HMI showing system 'health' was provided (Table 2.2). This was intended to provide an 'intuitive' overview of the current state of the vehicle's sensors and control system, and therefore an indication of the vehicle's ability to safely provide control. In the real world, factors that could theoretically influence this might include the presence of an external hazard, or a problem with the operational integrity of the sensors or control system, although the system health status feedback HMI was not necessarily intended to replicate a specific real-world system.

Table 2.1: Text-based and pictorial messages for 'top-down' and 'bottom-up'handover advice (changes were accompanied by an appropriate alerting tone and/or voice message)



Source: Authors' own

 Table 2.2: Automated system feedback human-machine interface (participants were not explicitly told what each representation meant)



Source: Authors' own

For those participants receiving system health status feedback, the in-vehicle HMI displayed the status of the cars sensors as green, amber or red, indicating increasing levels of severity. Drivers were notified of changes to sensor status (i.e. green to amber) with a non-intrusive tone, and the associated change of colour. This occurred seldom during the week and only for short periods of time (circa 30 seconds), without any accompanying external stimuli in the driving environment.

In practice, the study was conducted as a 2×2 between-subjects design, with four separate conditions to compare differences between HMIs and handover strategies (Table 2.3).

Table 2.3: Experimental design

		System status			
		Feedback	No feedback		
	Top-down (tactical)	Condition 1	Condition 2		
Handover strategy	Bottom-up (control)	Condition 3	Condition 4		

Source: Authors' own

As a further novel element of the study design, inclement weather (thick fog) was added to the simulated driving environment part way through the period of automated control on day four. This caused the vehicle's sensors to 'fail' and necessitated the emergency handover of control back to the driver. For participants who received system feedback, this was indicated by the sensor display turning red, accompanied by an urgent alarm and the spoken message: 'fog detected', with manual control provided ten seconds afterwards. Ten seconds was chosen for the duration of transfer of control on the basis of an understanding of current technological capabilities, and corresponds with existing literature and recommendations [12]. For participants who did not receive system feedback, the HMI simply indicated 'autonomous mode' or 'manual driving', throughout, as appropriate. After driving manually for approximately 15 kilometres (which took around eight to ten minutes), the fog cleared and automation became available again. Those participants who chose to re-engage with automated driving were subsequently provided with a routine handover, as on other days, towards the end of the dual carriageway (where the geofenced area ends and manual driving is required).

2.2 Handover and takeover requests

Requests made by the participants to take over and hand over control (as appropriate) were made using a spoken command. Spoken language interfaces are increasingly commonplace in technological applications and can offer a quick, intuitive and increasingly reliable means of interaction. In addition, they do not require users to learn a new HMI or interaction method, but instead typically rely on the use of familiar, 'natural' language. In the current study, participants were required to use an appropriate command, preceded by the keyword "Autocar" (akin to current commercial products, such as Amazon Alexa). For example, "Autocar: start automated driving" requested the handover of control from participant to car.

As far as participants were aware, this automatically initiated the change of state. In practice, it prompted the researcher to make the change manually via the simulator software control portal. Participants were also able to switch between manual and automated driving as and when desired, by using the appropriate command, assuming automation was available. If the change was not possible – typically if the driver requested automated control other than on the dual carriageway or in the midst of heavy fog, or failed to use the keyword "Autocar" – there was no response, and no change took place.

2.3 Participants

Fifty-two participants were recruited to take part in the study. All participants were experienced drivers (with more than two years of driving experience, and driving regularly), and comprised primarily employees and postgraduate students at the University of Nottingham. Unfortunately, three of the participants were unable to complete the study owing to simulator sickness occurring part way through the week, leaving a total of 49 participants (27 male, 22 female; mean age: 32, range: 21–64; mean annual mileage: 5,621) (Table 2.4). Participants were matched as closely as practicable between the four different conditions for age, gender and driving experience. They were recruited by means of advertisements placed around the University of Nottingham campus and sent via email, and were reimbursed with £50 in shopping vouchers as compensation for taking part.

Condition	n	Age			Gender		Miles	
		Min	Max	Mean	Standard deviation	Male	Female	per year
1	13	21	64	34	13.6	8	5	4,860
2	12	23	56	30	12.0	8	4	4,563
3	14	23	47	30	6.2	6	8	5,579
4	10	23	55	36	11.6	5	5	7,940
All	49	21	64	32	10.7	27	22	5,621

Table 2.4: Participant demographics

Source: Authors' own

2.4 Procedure

Participants began by driving manually (i.e. they were responsible for all primary control actions). Automated control was made available to drivers only when they joined the dual carriageway, which occurred approximately five minutes into the journey. This was indicated to participants by a text-based message presented on the in-vehicle HMI. The decision to transfer control to the vehicle was entirely at the participants' discretion – they were free to delay the transfer of control, resume manual control part way through, or, indeed, avoid using automated control entirely, if they so desired; no specific instructions were provided.

Participants were told that during periods of automation, they were permitted to engage in their chosen activities as they saw fit – no restrictions were applied other than making drivers aware at the start of the study that they might be required to resume manual control given appropriate notice.

Towards the end of the dual carriageway (which was approximately 20 minutes later), drivers were provided with a scheduled handover. In preparation for this, the in-car HMI provided participants with a "prepare to drive" warning (auditory and visual), delivered 60 seconds

prior to takeover. This was followed by a takeover request delivered ten seconds prior to the provision of control.

Takeover requests were devised based on driving skills hierarchy [8]. Half the participants received 'bottom-up' advice, instructing them to 'resume control' (i.e. at the operational/ control level) – the assumption is that these drivers subsequently acquire 'tactical' knowledge *after* they resumed physical control (i.e. no further advice was provided as part of the handover). The remaining participants received 'top-down' advice, initially advising them to 'check for hazards' (a 'tactical' action) – by guiding their visual attention towards the road scene, mirrors, and so on – *before* instructing them to resume control; in addition, participants receiving 'top-down' advice were provided with a countdown timer (displayed on the HMI) for each stage of the handover.

Participants always completed the journey by driving manually, for a further five minutes (approximately) after the dual carriageway ended. This was primarily to create an ecologically valid journey experience [10], but also allowed us to determine the immediate effect of the automation on manual driving skills. In addition, it ensured that participants' manual driving skills and exposure were 'recalibrated' before leaving the testing environment, i.e. to prepare participants for potentially driving their own vehicle later that day. Following each drive, participants completed the questionnaire about trust in a specific technology [13], the situational awareness rating technique (SART) scale [14] and the technology acceptance questionnaire [15]. Participants were in attendance for approximately one hour per day.

3. Results and Analysis



3.1 Measures and analysis approach

A large amount of data was generated by this longitudinal study. To provide focus, gaining understanding of three areas in particular was of interest:

- the type of activities drivers chose to undertake in a vehicle offering SAE level 3 automation;
- 2. what impact these activities had on the manual resumption of the driving task under both routine and emergency conditions; and
- **3.** how participants' behaviour changed throughout the course of the week.

The study approach, in terms of both measures and analysis, is therefore predicated on understanding and illuminating these three areas of interest. To achieve this, participants provided ratings of trust, technology acceptance and situational awareness using recognised ratings scales. Ratings were provided every day, immediately after each drive, and were subsequently compiled and compared between days.

In addition, split-view videos were captured throughout the entire study to enable an understanding to be gained of the types of activities that were undertaken each day, and how these changed over the course of the week. The videos were also used to extract salient visual indicators (gaze directed towards road situation, mirror checks etc.) during the handover period and immediately thereafter (i.e. during the initial period of manual driving).² Videos were coded and analysed on a frame-by-frame basis for the period(s) of interest using the BORIS (Behavioral Observation Research Interactive Software) event-logging software developed by Olivier Friard and Marco Gamba of the University of Turin (http://www.boris.unito.it).

Finally, manual driving performance data was collected using the simulation software. This was interrogated for the first ten seconds of manual driving, immediately after participants took over control, to explore drivers' ability to safely resume control (laterally and longitudinally) after the extended period of automation.

Testing for statistical significance of differences between measures was conducted using SPSS software as and where appropriate, and is elucidated in the appropriate section of the report. Most commonly, an analysis of variance (or ANOVA) test, or a MANOVA, a multivariate extension of ANOVA, was employed to examine whether the means of different groups were equal (including appropriate corrections in situations where multiple comparisons were made, thereby reducing the chance of 'false positive' declarations). In the absence of statistical testing, mean values might appear different, for example, when presented visually on a graph. However, such differences may be due to random variability amongst participants, and might not be generalisable to a wider population.

3.2 Secondary activities

Prior to attending on day one, participants were asked to imagine what they would like to do in a vehicle offering SAE level 3 capabilities (defined to them at the outset) – during a daily commute-style journey – and to bring with them any devices or artefacts that they required to enable these.

It is worth highlighting that while debates are ongoing (particularly amongst the legal community) regarding the types of activities that 'drivers' will be allowed to undertake in such a vehicle during periods of automated control, these are yet to reach fruition. Moreover, there is as yet very little empirical evidence – taken directly from SAE level 3 automated driving – to inform these debates.

Consequently, the study provided drivers with the freedom to exhibit behaviours that were most natural to them – and which may therefore arise whether permitted or not within a vehicle. This also detracted from the experience being seen as a 'controlled' experiment (in which participants were able to select from only a limited range of activities), and avoided pre-empting any legislative control.

Frame-by-frame video coding was undertaken to identify the types of devices and activities undertaken by participants during periods of automation. Behaviours were coded at a 'device' level – that is to say, specifying the primary device used, rather than the specific activity undertaken using the device; for example, 'smartphone' was reported rather than 'accessing emails'. This was to ensure the privacy of participants. To explore any

² It was not feasible to use eye-tracking techniques owing to ethical and privacy concerns.

behavioural adaptations across the week's experience, results from day one (Monday), day three (Wednesday) and day five (Friday) are presented here.

3.2.1 Devices used

At an aggregate level, results are perhaps unsurprising. The most common item used by participants, for example, was their smartphone (Figure 3.1). A phone was used by over 80% of participants, and this remained consistent throughout the week.

The next most popular activity was reading a book/magazine or printed papers (identified as 'Book' in Figure 3.1), with up to 25% of participants engaging in some form of reading activity during the week. Again, this remained largely unchanged as the week progressed. Other recorded activities were using a laptop ('PC') or tablet computer, and there was also some incidents of people sleeping, although this was rare – one person did so on Wednesday, and two on Friday.

Figure 3.1: Secondary devices used and activities undertaken during periods of automation



Source: Authors' own

Of note is that most of these activities were highly engaging, generally involving strong visual, cognitive and manual elements. Moreover, participants appeared quite comfortable, even from day one, to engage with these tasks –soon after the opportunity presented itself – despite their ongoing responsibilities towards the vehicle operating at SAE level 3 automation.

Representative examples of device usage are shown in the split-view images in Figure 3.2 to Figure 3.15. It is evident from these that engaging in secondary activities had a marked

effect on drivers' apparent readiness to resume control. In particular, issues of visual distraction (e.g. reading a book– Figure 3.5 and Figure 3.6), cognitive distraction (e.g. participant engrossed in a smartphone exchange – Figure 3.2 and Figure 3.4) and manual distraction (e.g. participant using a laptop – Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.11), were evident. Moreover, participants were apparently willing to undertake these activities at the expense of their awareness of the road scene – the participant reading in Figure 3.9, for example, has little hope of seeing the road ahead.

Furthermore, there was evidence that the activities in and of themselves had a marked effect on drivers' state and physical surroundings, with participants repurposing their cabin (lap/ steering wheel etc. – Figure 3.6, Figure 3.7 and Figure 3.10), or relaxing their seating position or posture to accommodate secondary task execution. On occasion, drivers had completely repurposed their cabin and were engaged in using multiple items (Figure 3.8, here shown at the point of requested handover).

As a consequence, these drivers were not only required to lay aside their secondary activity prior to resuming control, but also to re-establish appropriate driving posture (by repositioning the seat, sitting upright etc.) (Figure 3.13). For some drivers, secondary activities also necessitated the wearing of reading glasses, and again these needed to be removed and stored prior to taking control (Figure 3.12).

Even so, there was some evidence of drivers remaining vigilant – apparently selecting secondary activities that still enabled them to maintain attention on the road scene, or using items in a manner that enabled quick lay aside. For example, the participant shown in Figure 3.3 is listening to music on his smartphone while watching the road scene ahead. In addition, the driver in Figure 3.11 is holding his laptop to the side, presumably to enable quick placement on the passenger's seat if required, although this might also be necessitated by the presence of the steering wheel, which physically prevented the driver from placing the laptop on his lap (although by doing so, the HMI is notably obscured). There were also some drivers who were apparently comfortable sleeping while the vehicle was in control (Figure 3.14 and Figure 3.15).

Figure 3.2: Example of participant using a smartphone

Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.3: Example of participant using their smartphone as a music player, while still directing visual attention at the road scene

Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.4: Example of participant using a smartphone



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.5: Example of participant reading a book



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.6: Example of participant using the steering wheel to support their book while reading



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator



Figure 3.7: Example of paperwork obscuring vehicle dashboard/HMI

Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.8: Example of participant engaged in multiple activities



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.9: Example of participant completely obscuring their view of the road scene while reading



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.10: Example of participant supporting their laptop against the steering wheel during use



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator



Figure 3.11: Example of participant holding their laptop to the side, but obstructing their view of the HMI while doing so

Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.12: Example of participant reading from a tablet computer (note: participant is wearing reading glasses)



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.13: Example of participant adjusting seat and posture in preparation for handover



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.14: Example of participant sleeping



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.15: Example of participant sleeping



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

There was also some evidence that even while participants were engaged in their chosen activities, they still returned their visual attention to the road scene, through occasional glances.

Figure 3.16 shows the mean percentage of time that participants spent engaged in (i.e. directing visual attention towards) their secondary activities, and the percentage directed to the roadway. Of note is that on day one (Monday), almost 70% of participants' visual

attention was directed at the secondary activities, with the majority of this directed towards smartphones. Even so, approximately a third of the time was spent looking at the roadway. However, there is a clear pattern as the week progresses, with participants directing less and less visual attention at the road scene, and more at their secondary activity. By day five (Friday), over 80% of visual behaviour is associated with the secondary device/activity, and less than 20% with the road scene. Statistically, the amount of time spent looking out of the vehicle reduced significantly as the week progressed (F(2,100) = 8.1, p = .001, $\eta_o^2 = .139$).³





Source: Authors' own

³ The ANOVA family of statistical tests are based on the assumption that the data (specifically, the group means) are similar between groups (i.e. no differences exist). To interpret the results of an ANOVA test, the following values are generally reported: The ρ value tests the hypothesis that different groups have the same means (in this case, there is no difference in the amount of time spent looking out of the vehicle between days). If ρ is small (typically, less than 0.05), it is unlikely that the differences observed are due to random sampling. Thus, we can conclude that the differences between groups are statistically significant. The F value is the ratio of two mean square values. Thus, a value of 1.0 indicates no difference, whereas values above 1.0 indicate that the variation among group means is more than would be expected to be seen by chance. Partial eta-squared (η_{ρ}^2) measures the proportion of the total variance ('effect size') that is due to the variable under examination (other variables may also contribute to differences), and is presented as a decimal.
3.3 Trust, technology acceptance and situational awareness

Existing well-established rating scales were utilised to record participants' subjective assessment of their trust in and acceptance of the technology, and their situational awareness, with questionnaires administered immediately after each drive.

3.3.1 Trust

The trust in a specific technology scale [13] is a validated questionnaire that recognises the role that trust plays in technology-related applications (see Appendix A). Responses show that initial trust on day one (Monday) was above the scale median of four (with a rating of 5.4), and thereafter, trust generally increased throughout the week (Figure 3.17). Interestingly, there was no apparent detriment to trust following the emergency handover, either on day four (Thursday) immediately after the experience or indeed, on the following day (Friday). An ANOVA test revealed that differences between daily ratings were significant (F(4,196) = 6.5, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .118$). Pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons indicated that ratings on days three, four and five (Wednesday, Thursday and Friday) were significantly higher than those made on day two (Tuesday) (p < .001, p = .047 and p = .001, respectively).

Figure 3.17: Trust in a specific technology ratings with standard error bars, where 1 = "Strongly disagree" (indicating minimum trust) and 7 = "Strongly agree" (indicating maximum trust), with standard error bars



Source: Authors' own

3.3.2 Technology acceptance

The technology acceptance model questionnaire [15] (see Appendix A) was used to measure participants' *acceptance* of the technology, in this case, the automated vehicle. Ratings for technology acceptance indicate that initial acceptance on day one (Monday) was again above the scale median of four (with a rating of 5.5), and generally increased throughout the week (Figure 3.18), although there was an apparent dip in acceptance immediately following the emergency handover experienced on day four (Thursday).

An ANOVA test revealed that differences between daily ratings of acceptance were significant (F(4,196) = 11.0, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .184$). Pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons showed that ratings of acceptance on day five (Friday) were higher than those made throughout the rest of the week. In addition, ratings on day three (Wednesday) were higher than those made on days one and two (Monday and Tuesday). This indicates that there was in fact no detriment to acceptance following the emergency handover on day four (Thursday). Moreover, acceptance actually increased the following day.

Figure 3.18: Technology acceptance ratings with standard deviations, where 1 = "Strongly disagree" (indicating minimum acceptance) and 7 = "Strongly agree" (indicating maximum acceptance), with standard error bars



Source: Authors' own

3.3.3 Situational awareness

Situational awareness was determined using the SART [14] (see Appendix A). Ratings were combined to elucidate participants' evaluation of:

- the demands on their attentional resources (complexity, variability, and instability of the situation);
- **2.** the supply of attentional resources (division of attention, arousal, concentration, and spare mental capacity); and
- 3. their understanding of the situation (information quantity, and information quality).

Demands on attentional resources

Figure 3.19 shows that the demand initially dropped day-on-day as the week progressed (from Monday to Wednesday). However, there was a sharp increase on Thursday (day four) – understandably, given the emergency handover. Although there was a reduction on the following day (Friday – day five), ratings remain higher than they were earlier in the week, suggesting a residual effect of the day four emergency. An ANOVA test revealed that differences between daily ratings of demands on attentional resources were significant (F(4,196) = 33.5, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .406$). Pairwise comparisons, with Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons, showed that ratings on day four (Thursday) were significantly higher than on all other days ($p_{max} = .001$), and ratings on day five (Friday) were significantly lower than on day four (Thursday) (p = .001), but remained nevertheless significantly higher than on days one, two and three (Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday) (p = .020, p = .003, p < .001, respectively).





Source: Authors' own

Supply of attentional resources

A similar pattern emerges for the supply of attentional resources, with a decline from day one to day three (Monday to Wednesday), a peak on day four (Thursday) and a subsequent drop on the last day (Friday) (Figure 3.20). However, although a significant effect was revealed (F(4,196) = 3.4, p = .010, $\eta_p^2 = .065$), differences were significant only between day three (Wednesday) and day four (Thursday) (p = .020), indicating a marked effect of the emergency handover on day four.



Figure 3.20: Supply of attentional resources SART ratings, with standard error bars

Source: Authors' own

Understanding of the situation

In contrast to other situational awareness measures, participants' understanding of the situation increased as the week progressed (Figure 3.21). There was evidently some 'confusion' on Thursday, indicated by a drop in ratings on day four, although participants' understanding of the situation appeared to increase again the following day. Differences were indeed significant (F(4,188) = 13.9, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .228$), with pairwise comparisons (with Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons) indicating that day one ratings were significantly lower than those for the rest of the week ($p_{max} = .018$). In addition, ratings on day five (Friday) were significantly higher than those made on day four (Thursday) (p = .002).



Figure 3.21: Understanding of the situation SART ratings, with standard error bars

Source: Authors' own

3.4 Manual driving behaviour and performance

In line with previous, similar investigations (e.g. [16]), driving performance during the first ten seconds immediately after resuming manual control was analysed by dividing this into one-second time intervals. Data was captured directly by the simulation software and interrogated to explore variability in lateral behaviour (lane position) and longitudinal behaviour (speed). Additionally, the first control input (accelerator or brake pedal) – after control was handed back – was recorded.

3.4.1 Lane position and lateral instability

The mean lateral lane position from the lane centre immediately following the takeover of control (represented as the position of the centre of vehicle) is shown in Figure 3.22. There is a clear tendency for drivers to move to the left (towards the 'inside' lane) following resumption of control. Driving performance data shows that the lateral movement immediately after resuming control was highly variable. The highest deviation of absolute lane position (from lane centre) was evident on day one (Monday), with drivers, on average, moving up to over 2 metres to the left from the lane centre (peaking at three seconds after resuming control). This shows that on days one, two and three (Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday) the vehicle actually crossed the lane demarcation and moved into the adjoining ('inside') lane (the dotted line in Figure 3.23. shows the location of the centre of the vehicle at the point at which the edge of the vehicle would cross the lane boundary).

Figure 3.22: Mean lateral movement (expressed as the absolute position of centre of vehicle at each time interval from lane centre) in one-second intervals after resuming manual control



Source: Authors' own Note: '0' distance represents lane centre, i.e. all movement is to the left (towards the inside/left lane)

It is also notable that the level of lateral control demonstrated by drivers tended to improve as the week progressed, as might be expected. On day one (Monday), drivers typically did not manage to regain their lane position even after ten seconds of manual driving, remaining notably approximately 1.5 metres outside of their lane. On days two and three (Tuesday and Wednesday), it took drivers eight seconds on average to recover their vehicle to within the lane limits. On days four and five (Thursday and Friday), drivers managed to keep their vehicle within the lane boundaries, though still with notable (approximately 0.5 m to 0.8 m) lateral deviation. Interestingly, the smallest deviation from lane centre (arguably the 'best' performance) was evident on day four (Thursday), after the emergency handover.

The standard deviation of lane position (SDLP) is a measure of unstable 'wavering' behaviour, with higher values indicative of greater instability. Calculated during the same onesecond intervals, values for SDLP are consistent with the absolute lateral lane position, with the highest initial variability (largest SDLP) on day one (Monday), and again, improvements were evident as the week progressed (Figure 3.23). Moreover, the 'best' performance (lowest lane instability) again appears to occur on day four (Thursday), following the emergency handover. It is also evident that for each day a similar pattern emerges, with the SDLP settling down (suggesting improved control) after approximately three seconds, and thereafter remaining more consistent, though some instability is still notably apparent at a level of between 0.05 and 0.1 metres.





Source: Authors' own



Figure 3.24: Mean standard deviation of lane position (lane variability) during the full ten seconds after resuming manual control, with standard error bars

Source: Authors' own

Considered over the entire ten-second period after the resumption of manual control (Figure 3.24), the standard deviation of lane position appears much greater overall (compared to Figure 3.23), as the figures encompass the large variability on day one (with lateral deviations of up to 2 metres during the first 1.0-second time interval - see Figure 3.22), as well as the more controlled behaviour during the latter time intervals (with lateral lane positions in the order of 1.5.metres). Therefore, the effective range of movement (variability) over the entire 10-second period is much greater than during each of the constituent 1-second intervals. Nevertheless, the pattern of behaviour is comparable, with the highest SDLP evident on day one (Monday). Thereafter, lateral vehicle control tends to improve as the week progresses. Moreover, the lowest SDLP (suggesting the 'best' lateral control) appears to occur on day four (Thursday). An ANOVA test shows that differences were indeed significant between days (F(4,184) = 19.3, p < .001, $\eta_c^2 = .300$). Pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons showed that the SDLP on day one was higher than on all other days ($p_{max} = .002$). There was also a significant reduction from day three to day four (p = .040). Moreover, the SDLP on day four was significantly lower than on days one, two and three ($p_{max} = .040$), but there was no significant difference in the SDLP between days four and five (p = .279).

3.4.2 Speed and speed variability

In the absence of any direct distance-based measurement, such as headway (owing to there being no lead vehicle), speed and speed variability is used to provide an indication of longitudinal control (Figure 3.25 and Figure 3.26). The speed profile in Figure 3.25 shows a general increase in speed immediately upon resumption of manual driving, lasting approximately five seconds. Thereafter the speed returned to approximately 70 mph (the speed at which the automated vehicle travelled, and the UK national speed limit on a dual carriageway). The anomaly on day four (Thursday) (evident on Figure 3.25) was in response to the vehicle handing back control following exposure to the inclement weather (fog). It is evident that in this situation, drivers generally managed a reduction in the speed of the vehicle by either applying the brakes or allowing the car to lose momentum under engine braking. Figure 3.26 shows the speed variability (standard deviation of speed) over the same timeframe – an increase in the standard deviation of speed is typically associated with an increase in workload [17]. As with the SDLP, it is evident that the speed remains most variable for the first three to four seconds or so, following the handover of control, suggesting highest workload at this time.





Source: Authors' own

Figure 3.26: Speed variability (mph) in one-second intervals after resuming manual control



Source: Authors' own

Speed behaviour is also reflected in the first control inputs made by the drivers (Figure 3.27). Indeed, the majority of drivers (on all days) chose to accelerate following the handover of control (also highlighted by the positive gradients for all days except Thursday in Figure 3.26). A larger proportion of drivers applied the brakes on day four (Thursday), following the emergency handover of control, although this is likely to be in response to the inclement weather conditions, which severely restricted visibility, rather than necessarily in response to the nature of the handover (emergency vs routine). It is also evident from Figure 3.27 that the first control input came later on day four, suggesting that drivers in this situation chose to reduce speed by initially allowing the car to coast rather than by actively providing a control input.



Figure 3.27: First control input (accelerator or brake) after resuming manual control (percentage of participants)

Source: Authors' own

Figure 3.28: Mean time before first input (accelerator or brake) made, with standard deviation error bars



Source: Authors' own

3.5 Behavioural adaptations

While the driving performance data provides an objective statement of vehicle behaviour, it can be difficult to elucidate the reasons for the behaviours witnessed from the data alone. By analysing the split-view videos during the transition period, in other words between the delivery of the prepare-to-drive notification and the provision of manual control, it is possible to begin to interpret participants' behaviour and provide possible reasons for the apparent degradations in performance observed once manual control has begun. Moreover, by analysing this behaviour on day one and then again on day five, comparisons are enabled between the different types of handover situations (routine and emergency), as well as possible behavioural adaptations during the course of the week. The following section is based on indicators of 'readiness to drive' (e.g. [9]), including several bespoke measures, with both quantitative analysis of behaviours.

3.5.1 Activity during prepare-to-drive phase

Analysis of participants' glance behaviour following the delivery of the instruction "prepare to drive" shows that 57% of drivers visually checked where to place their feet during the transition period (i.e. by glancing to the footwell, as shown for example in Figure 3.29 and Figure 3.30). By day five, this number had reduced, but it remained a noticeable feature, with 44% of drivers still visually checking where to place their feet, often on multiple occasions during the handover period.

Figure 3.29: Example of participant visually confirming location of feet on pedals

Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator



Figure 3.30: Example of participant visually confirming location of feet on pedals

Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

In addition, on day one, 31 drivers continued to direct visual attention towards their secondary activity (albeit sporadically) following the "prepare to drive" instruction (Figure 3.31 and Figure 3.32), with four of these participants glancing at the device more than five times. On day five, 29 drivers continued to direct visual attention to their secondary activity, with six of these looking more than six times. It was also evident that those drivers who returned their gaze to their secondary activity on multiple occasions during the prepare-to-drive

phase, used the in-vehicle HMI as a timed indicator for 'resume control' and 'manual mode engagement' (particularly in the case of those drivers for whom a countdown timer was provided). There was also an increase over the week in the number of drivers continuing to interact with their secondary devices (i.e. not just glancing) during the prepare-to-drive phase – for example, continuing to compose a message on a smartphone (Figure 3.32), and actively 'packing away' their devices (Figure 3.33) despite being instructed to prepare to drive; this number increased from 14 participants on day one to 17 participants on day five.

Figure 3.31: Example of participant continuing to engage with their smartphone during prepare-to-drive notification (visible on in-vehicle screen)



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.32: Example of participant packing away their secondary item (book) after being instructed to prepare to drive



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

The average time from the prepare-to-drive request being delivered until drivers placed their hands on the steering wheel (defined as the time at which the participant placed both hands on the steering wheel, in any position) was 16 seconds on day one, increasing to 20 seconds on day five. Two drivers took in excess of one minute to place their hands on the wheel after the prepare-to-drive request on day one; on day five, this increased to four drivers. Of note is that three of these four were provided with the countdown timer function.



Figure 3.33: Driver behaviour during transition period – following delivery of "prepare to drive" warning

Source: Authors' own

3.5.2 Monitoring the road scene

There was an increase over the week in the number of drivers who were observed to glance at the road scene following delivery of the prepare-to-drive notification but prior to 'manual mode engaged' (i.e. while the vehicle was still in control). This increased from 5 drivers on day one (10%) to 13 drivers (27%) on day five (Figure 3.33).

It is also interesting to note when drivers first fixated on the road scene following delivery of the prepare-to-drive notification. On average, drivers took seven seconds on day one before directing their eyes on the road (defined as a glance out of the front windscreen of the car); this reduced to four seconds on day five. Additionally, there were nine drivers who took ten seconds or more before placing their 'eyes on the road' on day one, and six drivers on day five. These differences, albeit small, suggest that the drivers were more likely to look at the road immediately on hearing the prepare-to-drive request by the end of the week.

However, the average time between the first and second glance at the road increased between day one and day five (from four to seven seconds), and the number of drivers taking ten seconds or more to make a second glance at the road doubled from six to twelve. Nevertheless, the number of drivers whose eyes were 'on the road' at the point of manual mode engagement increased by 17, from 22 to 39, between days one and five (Figure 3.33), which is to say that on day five, 80% of drivers were looking at the road scene when they assumed manual control, suggesting an improved 'preparedness to drive'. Notably, this was at the expense of glances directed towards the HMI or dashboard. In addition, 25 of these 39 drivers had their eyes on the road in anticipation of manual mode engagement and held their gaze on the road for a prolonged period. The average glance duration 'on the road' (calculated as the length of time from the recorded glance at the front windscreen until the point gaze was recorded elsewhere) was nine seconds, and the maximum gaze duration was 24 seconds. Considered with the driving performance data, this suggests, somewhat unsurprisingly, that increased visual attention directed towards the road scene at the point of takeover is likely to improve initial vehicle control.

3.5.3 Startle responses

It was also evident from the video analysis that a significant proportion of drivers were 'startled' by the handover of control, as evidenced by physical or audible declarations (looks of surprise, head movements, spoken exclamations, gasps etc. – Figure 3.34 and Figure 3.35). This was particularly apparent at the start of the week, with 26 drivers (53%) displaying such responses on day one (Figure 3.33). However, only six drivers (12%) displayed such behaviour on day five, suggesting that overall, participants were less 'surprised' by the handover at the end of the week.

Figure 3.34: Example of startle response



Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

Figure 3.35: Example of startle response

Source: Authors' own image from driving simulator

3.5.4 Behavioural indicators of trust and acceptance

It is worth highlighting again that participants were under no obligation to hand over control to the vehicle during the study – they were simply asked to imagine how they might act in such a vehicle (in terms of both the activities they undertook and their willingness and propensity to share or delegate control), and were informed where and when automation was available. They were also specifically made aware of the vehicle's capabilities –

and indeed limitations – and were, of course, required to drive manually as part of the experience. Consequently, the decision to hand over control to the automation, and indeed any decision to take back control during periods of automation, provide a good indication of the level of trust that drivers placed in the technology and their potential acceptance of it. The videos were therefore analysed further to identify 'trust indicators', such as how soon drivers activated automated control and instances of drivers actively taking back manual control. As with other measures, these were calculated for each day, and subsequently compared across the week to explore behavioural adaptations.

It was evident that drivers quickly relinquished control to the vehicle – on average approximately eight seconds after this was made available, suggesting high levels of trust even on day one (Figure 3.36). Nevertheless, some participants expressed caution on day one (Monday) (Figure 3.37). There was a trend towards the handover time reducing over the week, suggesting that drivers wanted automated control sooner as the week progressed, although differences between days did not reach statistical significance (it is suspected that this is due to the large variability in behaviour seen over the week, with some drivers taking a minute or so, before requesting control). Interestingly, there was no apparent increase in handover time on Friday (which would have indicated a reduction in trust), suggesting that there was no detriment to drivers' trust in the technology following the perturbation on Thursday.





Source: Authors' own



Figure 3.37: Example of participant displaying tentative handover of control

Source: Authors' own

As part of the design of the scheduled handover (towards the end of the dual carriageway), drivers were provided with a "prepare to drive" warning delivered 60 seconds prior to handover, and a subsequent ten-second notification to 'resume control' (effectively delivered 50 seconds later). Nevertheless, drivers were able to request manual control sooner than this (i.e. before the 60 seconds had expired). If they decided to do so, they were immediately presented with a ten-second 'resume control' instruction. While not all drivers availed themselves of this facility, a significant proportion did (Figure 3.38). Moreover, where drivers did choose to resume control sooner, this occurred approximately 18 seconds into the handover period, on average. There was no significant trend up or down in the time taken to request control during the handover over the week (Figure 3.39).



Figure 3.38: Percentage of drivers requesting manual control during prepare-todrive notification

Source: Authors' own

Figure 3.39: Mean prepare-to-drive time before manual control requested, with standard error bars



Source: Authors' own

3.6 Emergency handover and handover strategy

For most of the week, the journey experience was unremarkable, insofar as the handover and, in particular, the resumption of manual control occurred as expected towards the end of the dual carriageway. On such days, participants were provided with 60 seconds' warning to resume control. However, as part of the experimental design, inclement weather (thick fog) was added on day four (Thursday) part way through the period of automation. The assumption behind this is that under such conditions the vehicle would be unable to continue operating autonomously, and would therefore be required to hand back manual control to the driver. Moreover, the nature of the perturbation during the study was such that this was not only unexpected, but it was also an emergency. Therefore, participants were notified and required to resume manual control within ten seconds, rather than the prolonged 60 seconds, to which they had become accustomed.

In addition, different HMI strategies were employed to help drivers build and maintain situational awareness during handovers (Table 2.1) – but any given driver experienced only the same handover HMI strategy throughout the week. The motivation for this approach was a desire to understand the influence of HMI strategy on drivers' behaviour during the takeover of control and on ratings of trust (and other elements) generally, but also more specifically to discover whether there were any positive learning effects (instilled by encouraging positive behaviour during routine handovers) that persisted during emergency situations.

Considering the emergency handover on day four (Thursday) in isolation, further video coding was used to classify participants' mirror-checking behaviour during the takeover request (i.e. following the delivery of the takeover request but before resuming manual control). In addition, 'driver readiness' is defined as the time at which participants had made their first glance at the road scene and had at least one hand on the steering wheel, in line with other research [9]. Driving performance data, specifically associated with the emergency handover, was extracted from the STISIM Drive software and analysed to provide information on participants' standard deviation of lateral and longitudinal driving control for the first ten seconds after handover; driving performance was compared to ten seconds of manual driving on a straight road prior to engaging in automation on the same day.

3.6.1 Mirror checks

A two-way multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) test showed a significant main effect of handover strategy (top-down versus bottom-up) on checks to right-side, left-side and rear-view mirrors (F(3,43) = 4.8, p = .006, Wilks' Λ = .748, η_p^2 = .252) (Figure 3.40). There was no main effect of the system feedback ('health status') HMI, provided during periods of automation (p = .841), and no significant interaction effect of the interface during automation and the handover strategy on the frequency of mirror checks (p = .473). A subsequent oneway ANOVA revealed that significantly more checks were made to the right- and left-side mirrors when drivers were provided with top-down guidance. No statistically significant differences in checks to the rear-view mirror were found between handover strategies.

In contrast, no checks were made to the right-side mirror by drivers who received 'bottomup' ("take control") advice, and only 3.7% of these drivers checked their left-side mirror (compared to 36.4% of 'top-down' drivers checking both left and right) (although no differences were evident between conditions in the number of checks to the rear-view mirror).



Figure 3.40: Mean number of mirror checks during top-down and bottom-up advice, with standard error bars

Source: Authors' own

3.6.2 Time to 'driver readiness'

A two-way ANOVA revealed that there was a significant main effect on the time to 'driver readiness' of system feedback during automation (F(1,45) = 12.7, p = .001, $\eta_p^2 = .221$), reducing this by 2.1 seconds compared to situations in which no feedback was provided.

3.6.3 Standard deviation of speed

A two-way mixed ANOVA was conducted, employing a between-subjects factor of condition (×4) and a within-subjects factor of sampling period (manual driving before automation or manual driving after handover). There was no significant main effect of condition on standard deviation of speed (p = .758), and no statistically significant interaction between condition and sampling period (before automation, after handover) (p = .568). However, there was a significant main effect of sampling period in standard deviation of speed (F(1,45) = 38.6, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .462$), indicating that the standard deviation of speed was 1.9mph lower before automation.

3.6.4 Standard deviation of lateral lane position

A two-way mixed ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of sampling period on the SDLP (F(1,45) = 60.2, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .572$), revealing that the SDLP was significantly larger in the manual drive after handover (mean difference = 0.424 feet) compared to the earlier manual drive. There was no significant main effect of condition (p = .356), and no significant interaction between condition and sampling period on the SDLP (p = .605). It is therefore evident that driving performance differed significantly when compared to an equivalent episode of manual driving prior to engaging automation on day four.

4. Discussion and Conclusions



The study aimed to explore the type of activities that drivers chose to undertake in a vehicle offering SAE (Society of Automotive Engineers) level 3 automation, what impact these had on the manual resumption of the driving task under both routine and emergency conditions, and, finally, how participants' behaviour changed during the course of the week. Building on a preliminary investigation conducted by the University of Nottingham [2], the study exposed drivers to a week of SAE level 3 automated 'commute'-style driving with episodes of manual and automated driving. Many of the results discussed below highlight the requirement for new forms of driver training to assist people in the use of future automobiles in which they might transition in/ out of control while the vehicle is in motion.

4.1 Secondary activities

It is worth reiterating that participants were under no obligation or requirement to hand over control to the vehicle during the study – they were simply asked to imagine how they might act in such a vehicle during a commute-type journey. As part of the journey experience, they were also required to drive manually, but were informed where and when automation was available. Furthermore, prior to taking part, participants had been specifically made aware of the vehicle's capabilities – and indeed limitations. Consequently, the activities that participants undertook and their willingness and propensity to share or delegate control, provide a good indication of the level of trust that they placed in the technology and their potential acceptance of it.

Results show that drivers undertook a range of activities while the vehicle was in control – typically with high visual, manual and cognitive demands, indicating high levels of trust in and acceptance of the automation from day one. The smartphone was the most popular device, used by over 80% of participants for a variety of activities, although more traditional reading materials (books, printed papers etc.) were also popular, with up to 25% of participants engaging in some form of reading activity during the week. Participants also commonly used laptops and tablet computers during periods of automation.

While the types of devices used did not change significantly during the week, the proportion of time (indicated by the visual attention directed towards them) increased. On day one, participants spent approximately 70% of their time with their vision directed away from the road scene during periods of automation. By day five, over 80% of the time was associated with their secondary activities, i.e. less than 20% of the time was spent looking at the road scene at the end of the week.

4.2 Trust, technology acceptance and situational awareness

These observations were supported by subjective ratings made by participants at the end of each day using recognised questionnaires. Participants declared high levels of trust and technology acceptance from day one. Moreover, trust and technology acceptance ratings generally increased as the week progressed. Of particular note was that there was no apparent detriment to trust or technology acceptance after the emergency handover event on day four – either immediately thereafter or on the next day. In fact, ratings of trust were significantly higher at the end of the week than they were at the start of it, and technology acceptance was highest on day five. The level of trust and acceptance that users place in technology is expected to influence their uptake of the technology [18]. If the technology is not seen as 'acceptable' by drivers, they will probably not buy it – and even if they do, they might disable it, if and where this is possible, out of frustration (leading to disuse), or use it in a manner unintended by designers (abuse) [19].

Ratings of situational awareness revealed that for the first part of the week (Monday to Wednesday), participants tended to indicate an ongoing reduction day-on-day in the demands on and supply of their attentional resources, and an increase in their understanding of the situation. This is likely to be because they became more familiar with their experience of the automated vehicle, rather than their awareness of the driving situation per se – although it is worth considering that the effect may also be interpreted from the perspective of increased familiarity with the simulated driving experience and experimental conditions. However, the unexpected, emergency handover on day four had a marked effect – significantly increasing the demands placed on drivers' attentional resources, and reducing their understanding of the situation. While this is to be expected, given the nature of the

perturbation, it is particularly interesting to observe that the ratings of situational awareness returned to their previous magnitude on the following day, indicating no residual effects from the emergency handover situation.

4.3 Transfer of control

Irrespective of their subjective ratings, the protracted abstinence from primary control inputs during periods of automation – in addition to engagement in highly absorbing non-driving-related secondary activities – meant that some drivers were inevitably ill-prepared to regain manual control quickly and effectively. This is because they were required to change state, in other words disengage from their secondary activity (physically and cognitively) as well as potentially reposition themselves physically in preparation to take over control, before re-engaging with (and recalibrating) the primary controls and concurrently building situational awareness. There was clear evidence of the impact that this required change of state had on drivers from the behavioural indicators. For example, a high proportion of drivers (57%) glanced at their feet when they were preparing to take control on day one – and this remained a feature even on day five (44%). Such a finding points towards deficiencies in proprioception (drivers' awareness or perception of the position and movements of their body) that are likely to arise for people who are 'out of the loop' with respect to the driving task for an extended period – and consequently lose sense of where their limbs (in this case legs/feet) are, in relation to the primary vehicle controls.

Equally concerning is that a significant proportion of drivers continued to engage with the secondary activities – based on both visual metrics and observed activity (e.g. continuing to compose a text message) – during the 60-second prepare-to-drive notification. Drivers also appeared to become somewhat lackadaisical in their approach to grasping the steering wheel (in preparation for taking control) as the week progressed – choosing to do so later on Friday (than at the start of the week), and in some cases after manual control had been handed back (although this could be a result of low perception of risk in the simulated driving environment).

Collectively, the evidence indicates an increase in the level of complacency and level of confidence that the drivers held regarding their own ability to take control. Moreover, it suggests that drivers were using the prepare-to-drive notification as an indication of when they needed to begin the process of dispensing with their secondary activities, rather than using it as time to actively prepare for driving (for example, attempting to improve their awareness of the road situation before engaging with and recalibrating the manual controls); this was particularly true in 'top-down' situations where a countdown timer was provided (as evident from the areas to which drivers chose to direct their visual attention). This suggests that greater clarity – and, potentially, new forms of driver training – is required as part of the handover process, regarding what actions should and should not be taken once the transition process has begun, and the order in which these actions should take place.

Nevertheless, there was some evidence to suggest that drivers recognised the importance of regaining their situational awareness in preparation for taking over control. For example,

there was an increase over the course of the week in the number of drivers who glanced at the road scene following delivery of the prepare-to-drive notification, and the time before doing so also reduced. However, although drivers were more likely to get their eyes on the road more quickly as experience and exposure to handovers increased, this does not necessarily translate into an increase in readiness to drive. It may also demonstrate that participants had learned the route – for example, by identifying a distinctive roadside landmark and using this as a marker or predictor of when the vehicle would be transferring control to them. Such 'learned' behaviour raises concerns, suggesting complacency amongst drivers, in that it assumes routine or predictable behaviour (i.e. that the vehicle will always hand back control at the same point), meaning that drivers might be even less prepared for unexpected or emergency handovers.

4.4 Vehicle control

Unsurprisingly, drivers' behaviour during the handover of control had a significant impact on their actual driving performance, with data showing that lateral movement (in terms of both absolute and standard deviation of lane position) was highly variable immediately after resuming control, and remained so for up to ten seconds thereafter (and beyond in some cases).

Interestingly, lateral displacement was always to the nearside (left), suggesting that drivers inherently determined this to be a safer course of action (rather than steering towards oncoming traffic). It is worth highlighting that during the study, the vehicle operated in automated mode in lane two (the 'outside' lane) of the dual carriageway (presented to participants as a dedicated 'autonomous' driving lane). Thus, when automated control was relinquished, drivers could choose whether to remain in lane two or move into lane one. While the general tendency to 'drift left' might suggest that drivers were actually choosing to move into lane one, the fact that they ultimately attempted to regain their central position in lane two suggests that this was not in fact their intended strategy, but rather that they required time to readapt or recalibrate primary control mechanisms.

Even so, lateral control improved as the week progressed, suggesting that drivers were able to produce strategies to improve immediate takeover performance – such strategies could potentially be incorporated within training and best practices. Interestingly, the 'best' takeover performance (from the perspective of lateral control) was evident on day four, immediately after the emergency handover. Initially a counter-intuitive finding, this is suspected to be indicative of an increase in drivers' focus of attention in terms of both mental effort and mobilisation of resources (resulting in hyper-vigilance), owing to the nature of the emergency handover–in particular, the urgent alarm. This is also supported by the situational awareness rating technique (SART) ratings, which showed an increase in the supply of attentional resources – in particular – on this day.

Speed behaviour and control was also variable. Of particular note was that drivers tended to increase speed immediately after taking control – indeed, the first control input for most drivers was the accelerator. It is likely that degradations in driving performance after the resumption of manual control were due to difficulties in recalibrating the physical control

actions when resuming manual driving. A similar effect was also noted in a recent 'steerby-wire' driving study in which the steering/torque ratio was modified between each lap of a circuit. Observed steering manoeuvres differed significantly between each drive, with participants under- and overestimating steering angles, even when they were informed about changes in the steering/torgue ratio in advance [20]. The authors argue that even when a driver is aware of what they need to do, they can adjust to physical controls only through 'hands-on' experience. As a consequence, it is suspected that even if drivers of automated vehicles have sufficient awareness of the driving environment and of the required driving manoeuvres (for example, by using an informative HMI (human-machine interface) to rebuild their situational awareness), there may still be detriments to driving performance after handover until they have re-established familiarity with the primary control actions (for example, steering and pedal angles). Russell et al. [20] thus argue for a period of shared control after handover to mitigate the risk associated with the adaptation/learning process. In this respect, it is possible that the automation system within a future vehicle may need to test a driver's capabilities (in terms of vehicle control, and also their visual scanning patterns) prior to them being allowed to fully resume manual control.

It is worth noting that speed behaviour was also different on day four after the emergency handover. In this situation, drivers tended to reduce speed initially by using engine braking rather than actively providing a control input. The motivation to reduce speed is likely to have been influenced by the specific emergency situation chosen for the study – adverse weather conditions, such as fog, can have a significant impact on driving performance in any situation. For example, Mueller and Trick [21] found that drivers displayed greater variability in speed and steering when driving in foggy conditions than in clear conditions.

4.5 Mirror checks

There were also some notable differences in mirror-checking behaviour - something that is considered essential for safe driving and which helps drivers to maintain situational awareness - following the top-down and bottom-up handover guidance [22]. Indeed, providing drivers with 'top-down' guidance (encouraging them to check for hazards) during the ten-second transition led to significantly more checks being made to the right- and leftside mirrors, even during the emergency situation. This suggests that such strategies could be employed to improve drivers' situational awareness prior to providing control, even during a relatively short timeframe – although it did not necessary translate into improved driving performance immediately after the handover. However, several drivers who received 'topdown' advice during the study still failed to check their mirrors, suggesting that prompting participants to check for hazards might not be a fully effective method to build situational awareness during handover. On the other hand, no lane change was required as part of the emergency handover, and surrounding traffic was sparse at the point of handover. It is therefore feasible that drivers' mirror-checking behaviour might have been different if they had been required to undertake a lane-change manoeuvre immediately after resuming control, or if traffic density were higher.

It is also noteworthy that receiving system 'status' feedback during periods of automation had no influence on participants' mirror checks during the handover, suggesting that keeping participants 'in the loop' during automation had no impact on their behaviour during the transfer of control, and further supporting the need for the provision of additional (top-down) information or guidance during the process. However, it is possible that drivers expected the system status interface to highlight potential obstacles at the point of handover, which suggests over-reliance on technology and potential errors of omission (i.e. drivers failing to implement actions if they are not informed by the vehicle), as also observed by Eriksson et al [23].

4.6 Limitations

It is important to recognise that the research was conducted at SAE level 3 automation, insofar as participants were told that they might be required to resume manual control during periods of automation, given appropriate notice. Nevertheless, no restrictions were applied to the type of activities that drivers could undertake during periods of automation (and, consequently, secondary devices and activities were not controlled across groups). In practice, this might seem somewhat incongruous with the recognised understanding of SAE level 3 automation, a level in which drivers might still be required to take over control. It would therefore seem prudent that future SAE level 3 vehicle should not permit certain types of activities - and should warn, penalise or attempt to re-engage the driver accordingly. However, this work is intended merely to inform this debate. Moreover, the range of secondary activities undertaken may have influenced some of the results. For example, participants undertaking activities that involved high visual, manual and cognitive elements (e.g. working on a laptop placed in front of the steering wheel), may have taken considerably longer to detach from their non-driving activities than participants carrying out less demanding activities - for example, those casually glancing at their smartphone at the point of handover. Thus, it is feasible that reaction times might be influenced by the secondary device being used. Nevertheless, the intention in conducting the research in this manner was to explore the type of activities that drivers would expect to undertake, and which they believe to be acceptable in an SAE level 3 automated vehicle, in spite of the fact that they maintained an ongoing responsibility towards vehicle control and were specifically reminded of this at the start of the study.

Finally, it is worth highlighting that the results as presented relate to the specific set of controlled conditions to which participants were exposed (i.e. a medium-fidelity driving simulator, with specific experimental HMIs and so on). Whilst every effort was made to ensure that these factors were as realistic as possible (based on the study team's expertise and experience, and their understanding and expectations of future vehicles), and the driving simulator provides good relative validity, there are aspects of the experimental set-up that were chosen for convenience (although, notably, still informed by expert opinion) that might be more complex to achieve in the real world. For example, in practice, it is debatable whether an automated vehicle would have sufficient self-awareness to be able show the current status of its sensors to its passengers with the degree of clarity that this simulation

afforded. Moreover, there are unavoidable limitations inherent in conducting such research in a driving simulator, associated with the fidelity of experience, low perception of risk and so on. For these reasons, caution should be applied when drawing conclusions regarding real-life behaviour.

References

- [1] Merat, N., Jamson, A. H., Lai, F. C. H. & Carsten, O. (2012). *Highly Automated Driving, Secondary Task Performance, And Driver State*. Human Factors, 54(5): 762–771.
- [2] Large, D. R., Burnett, G., Morris, A., Muthumani, A. & Matthias, R. (2018). A longitudinal simulator study to explore drivers' behaviour during highly-automated driving. In N. A. Stanton (ed.), *Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation* (pp. 583–594). Proceedings of the AHFE 2017 *International Conference on Human Factors in Transportation*, 17–21 July 2017, Los Angeles, CA, USA. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- [3] Department for Transport (2015). The Pathway to Driverless Cars: Summary report and action plan. DfT. Accessed from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/401562/pathway-driverless-carssummary.pdf
- [4] Society of Automotive Engineers (2014). *Taxonomy and Definitions for Terms Related to On-Road Motor Vehicle Automated Driving Systems*. Warrendale, PA: SAE International.
- [5] Banks, V. A., Stanton, N. A. & Harvey, C. (2014). Sub-Systems on the Road to Vehicle Automation: Hands and feet free but not 'mind' free driving. Safety Science, 62: 505– 514.
- [6] Kyriakidis, M., de Winter, J. C. F., Stanton, N., Bellet, T., van Arem, B., Brookhuis, K. et al. (2019). A Human Factors Perspective on Automated Driving. Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science, 20(3): 223–249.
- [7] Merat, N., Seppelt, B., Louw, T., Engström, J., Lee, J. D., Johansson, E. et al. (2019). The "Out-Of-The-Loop" Concept in Automated Driving: Proposed definition, measures and implications. Cognition, Technology & Work, 21(1): 87–98.
- [8] Michon, J. A. (1985). A critical view of driver behavior models: what do we know, what should we do? In L. Evans & R. C. Schwing (eds.), *Human Behavior and Traffic Safety* (pp. 485–524). New York, NY: Plenum Press.
- [9] Zeeb, K., Buchner, A. & Schrauf, M. (2015). What Determines the Take-Over Time? An integrated model approach of driver take-over after automated driving. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 78: 212–221.
- [10] Reis, H. T. & Judd, C. M. (eds.) (2000). Handbook of Research Methods in Social and Personality Psychology. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- [11] Dahlbäck, N., Jönsson, A. & Ahrenberg, L. (1993). Wizard of Oz Studies—Why and how. Knowledge-Based Systems, 6(4): 258–266.
- [12] Melcher, V., Rauh, S., Diederichs, F., Widlroither, H. & Bauer, W. (2015). *Take-Over Requests for Automated Driving*. Procedia Manufacturing, 3: 2867–2873.

- [13] Mcknight, D. H., Carter, M., Thatcher, J. B. & Clay, P. F. (2011). Trust in a Specific Technology: An investigation of its components and measures. ACM Transactions on Management Information Systems, 2(2): 12.
- [14] Taylor, R. M. (1990). Situational awareness rating technique (SART): the development of a tool for aircrew systems design. In *Situational Awareness in Aerospace Operations* (AGARD-CP-478) (pp. 5/1–5/8). Neuilly-sur-Seine: NATO-AGARD.
- [15] Venkatesh, V. & Davis, F. D. (2000). A Theoretical Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four longitudinal field studies. Management Science, 46(2): 186–204.
- [16] Pampel, S. M., Large, D. R., Burnett, G., Matthias, R., Thompson, S. & Skrypchuk, L. (2019). Getting the Driver Back into the Loop: The quality of manual vehicle control following long and short non-critical transfer-of-control requests. Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science, 20(3): 265–283.
- [17] De Waard, D. (1996). The Measurement of Drivers' Mental Workload. Haren: Groningen University, Traffic Research Center.
- [18] Ghazizadeh, M., Lee, J. D. & Boyle, L. N. (2012). Extending the Technology Acceptance Model to Assess Automation. Cognition, Technology & Work, 14(1): 39–49.
- [19] Parasuraman, R. & Riley, V. (1997). Humans and Automation: Use, misuse, disuse, abuse. Human Factors, 39(2): 230–253.
- [20] Russell, H. E. B., Harbott, L. K., Nisky, I., Pan, S., Okamura, A. M. & Gerdes, J. C. (2016). *Motor Learning Affects Car-To-Driver Handover in Automated Vehicles*. Science Robotics, 1: eaah5682.
- [21] Mueller, A. S. & Trick, L. M. (2012). Driving in Fog: The effects of driving experience and visibility on speed compensation and hazard avoidance. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 48: 472–479.
- [22] Li, N. & Busso, C. (2013). Driver mirror-checking action detection using multi-modal signals. In 6th Biennial Workshop in Digital Signal Processing for In-Vehicle Systems and Safety (pp. 59–66). Proceedings of a meeting held 29 September–2 October 2013, Seoul, South Korea. Red Hook, NY: Curran Associates, Inc.
- [23] Eriksson, A., Petermeijer, S. M., Zimmermann, M., De Winter, J. C. F., Bengler, K. J. & Stanton, N. A. (2019). *Rolling Out the Red (and Green) Carpet: Supporting driver decision making in automation-to-manual transitions*. IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems, 49(1): 20–31.

Appendix A: Questionnaires

Trust in general technology questionnaire

1. I would be totally comfortable using automated vehicles.

Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
uisagi ee								agree
2. I would	feel very g	good aboi	ut how thin	igs go whe	en I use au	tomated v	ehicles.	
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
3. I would	feel confi	dent that t	he right thi	ings will ha	appen whe	n I use au	tomated	vehicles.
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
4. I think t	hat things	will be fin	e when I u	se automa	ited vehicle	es.		
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
5. I would	feel okay ι	using autor	mated vehi	cles becau	se they are	backed by	y vendor	protections
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
6. Product	t guarante	es would	make it fee	el all right t	o use auto	omated vel	nicles.	
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
-	the backii ted vehicl		statutes a	nd proces	ses makes	s me feel s	ecure in	using
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree

Strongly		0	0	4	F	0	7	Strongly
disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	agree
9. A large	majority c	of technolo	gies are e	xcellent.				
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
10. Most te	chnologie	es have the	e features i	needed for	their dom	ain.		
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
11. I think r	nost tech	nologies ei	nable me t	o do what	I need to	do.		
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
12. My typio trust the		ach is to tr	ust new te	echnologie	s until they	r prove to r	me that I	shouldn't
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
13. I usually	/ trust a te	echnology	until it give	es me a rea	ason not to	o trust it.		
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
14. I genera	ally give a	technolog	y the bene	efit of the c	oubt wher	n I first use	it.	
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree

8. I believe that most technologies are effective at what they are designed to do.

Trust in a specific technology questionnaire

1. The system is a very reliable piece of technology.

Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
2. The sys	tem does	s not fail m	e.					
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
3. The sys	tem is ex	tremely de	pendable.					
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
4. The sys	tem does	s not malfu	nction for	me				
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
5. The sys	tem has t	the functio	nality I nee	ed.				
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
6. The sys	tem has t	the feature	s required	for my tas	ks.			
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
7. The sys	tem has 1	the ability t	o do what	I want it to	o do.			
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
8. The sys	tem prov	ides comp	etent guid	ance (as n	eeded) thr	ough a hei	p functio	on.
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
9. The sys	tem provi	ides very s	ensible an	d effective	advice, if	needed.		
Strongly		2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly

Technology acceptance questionnaire

1. Assuming I have access to the system, I intend to use it.

Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
2. Given tl	hat I have	access to	the syster	n, I predic	t that I wo	uld use it.		
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
3. My inte	raction wi	ith the syst	em is clea	r and unde	erstandabl	Э.		
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
4. Interact	tion with t	he system	does not i	require a lo	ot of my m	ental effort		
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
5. I find th	e system	to be easy	/ to use.					
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
6. I find it	easy to ge	et the syst	em do wha	at I want to	o do.			
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
7. It is fast	ter to perf	orming tas	sks with the	e system.				
Strongly	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
disagree				of porfor	nina tasks			
	stem incre	eases the p	productivity	or periori	ning taono			
8. The sys	stem incre	eases the p	oroductivity 3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
 The sys Strongly disagree 	1	2		4	5		7	

10. I will frequently use the system in the future.

Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
I1. It is likel	y that I w	ill continue	e to use the	e system.				
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
12. I will free	quently us	se the syst	tem in the t	future.				
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
13. I have c	ontrol ove	er using th	e system.					
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
14. I have th	he resour	ces neces	sary to use	e the syste	m.			
Strongly								Strongly
disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	agree
disagree 15. Given th		ces, oppor						agree
disagree 15. Given the be easy Strongly	ne resourc	ces, oppor						agree
disagree 15. Given th	ne resourc r for me to 1	ces, oppor o use it. 2	tunities an 3	d knowlec 4	lge it takes	to use the	e system	agree n, it would Strongly
disagree 15. Given th be easy Strongly disagree	ne resourc r for me to 1	ces, oppor o use it. 2	tunities an 3	d knowlec 4	lge it takes	to use the	e system	agree n, it would Strongly
disagree 15. Given th be easy Strongly disagree 16. I find us Strongly disagree	ne resource r for me to 1 sing the sy 1	es, oppor o use it. 2 vstem to b 2	tunities an 3 e enjoyable 3	d knowled 4 e. 4	lge it takes	to use the	e system 7	agree agree Strongly agree Strongly
disagree 15. Given the be easy Strongly disagree 16. I find us Strongly disagree 17. The acter Strongly	ne resource r for me to 1 sing the sy 1	es, oppor o use it. 2 vstem to b 2	tunities an 3 e enjoyable 3	d knowled 4 e. 4	lge it takes	to use the	e system 7	agree agree Strongly agree Strongly
disagree 15. Given the be easy Strongly disagree 16. I find us Strongly	ne resource r for me to 1 sing the sy 1 ual proce	2 vstem to b 2 ss of using 2	tunities an 3 e enjoyable 3 g the system 3	d knowled 4 e. 4 m is pleas 4	lge it takes 5 ant. 5	6 6	e system 7 7	agree agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly

19. I have no problem with the quality of the system's output.

Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree
20. I rate the	e results ⁻	from the s	ystem to b	e excellen	t.			
Strongly disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly agree

Situational Awareness Rating Technique (SART)

Instability of situation

How changeable was the drive? Was it highly unstable and likely to change (high) or very stable and straightforward (low)?

Low	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	High
-----	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	------

Complexity of situation

How complicated was the drive? Was it complex with many interrelated components (high) or simple and straightforward?

Low 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 High	Low	1 2	3	4	5	6	7	High
------------------------	-----	-----	---	---	---	---	---	------

Variability of situation

How many variables were changing during the drive? Was there a large number of factors varying (high) or very few variables changing (low)?

Low	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	High

Arousal

How aroused were you during the drive? Were you alert and ready for activity (high) or did you have a low degree of alertness (low)?

Low 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 High

Concentration and attention

How much were you concentrating during the drive? Were you concentrating on many aspects of the situation (high) or focused on only one (low)?

Low 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 High	Low	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	High
------------------------	-----	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	------

Division of attention

How much was your attention divided during the drive? Were you concentrating on many aspects of the situation (high) or focused on only one (low)?

Low 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Hig	Low
-----------------------	-----

Spare mental capacity

How much mental capacity did you have to spare during the drive? Did you have sufficient to attend to many variables (high) or nothing to spare at all (low)?

Low	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	High
-----	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	------

Information quantity

How much information did you gain during the drive? Did you receive and understand a great deal of knowledge (high) or very little (low)?

Low 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 High	Low	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	High
------------------------	-----	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	------

Familiarity with situation

How familiar were you with the drive? Did you have a great deal of relevant experience (high) or was it a new situation (low)?

|--|



The Royal Automobile Club Foundation for Motoring Ltd is a transport policy and research organisation which explores the economic, mobility, safety and environmental issues relating to roads and their users. The Foundation publishes independent and authoritative research with which it promotes informed debate and advocates policy in the interest of the responsible motorist.

RAC Foundation 89–91 Pall Mall London SW1Y 5HS

Tel no: 020 7747 3445 www.racfoundation.org

Registered Charity No. 1002705 July 2019 © Copyright Royal Automobile Club Foundation for Motoring Ltd

> Designed and printed by The Javelin Partnership Ltd Tel: 0118 907 3494

Produced on paper from a managed sustainable source which is FSC certified as containing 50% recycled waste.

> Main proofreader: Beneficial Proofreading Services Tel: 07979 763116